IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

JOHNNY PAUL WITT,

Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 66626

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent/Appellee.

FILED SID J. WELLE

FEB 27 1985

By Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W.C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Hall of Justice Building 455 North Broadway Bartow, FL 33830-3798 (813) 533-1184; 0931

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is proceeding on an expedited basis. Consequently, this brief was prepared before the record on appeal was compiled and numbered and contains no page number references to the record of the post-conviction proceedings in the trial court. References to documentary portions of the original record on appeal will be designated by an "R" followed by the page number. References to the trial transcript portion of the original record on appeal will be designated by a "T" followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 8, 1973, Johnny Paul Witt was indicted by a Hillsborough County grand jury for the first degree murder of Jonathan Kushner. (R9) A change of venue was granted (R23), and Witt was tried by a jury in Deland on February 18, 1974 through February 21, 1974, with the Honorable Herboth S. Ryder presiding. (T225 - 1008) The jury found Witt guilty as charged. (R132, T854 - 855) At the penalty phase a majority of the jury recommended that the death penalty be imposed upon Witt (R152, T1002), and Judge Ryder sentenced him to death. (R153 - 155, T1007 - 1008)

This Court affirmed Petitioner's judgment and sentence in an opinion dated February 3, 1977, and reported at 342 So.2d 497. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 31, 1977.

Petitioner, on November 2, 1979, filed a motion to vacate judgment and sentence in the Circuit Court for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit for Hillsborough County, Florida. The motion was denied without a hearing on December 7, 1979.

Petitioner appealed the denial of his motion to vacate judgment and sentence to this Court, where the decision of the trial court was affirmed in an opinion filed on July 24, 1980 (rehearing denied October 13, 1980) and reported at 387 So.2d 922. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on December 15, 1980.

Petitioner, on September 29, 1980, along with 122 other death-sentenced Florida inmates, filed an original petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Supreme Court of Florida. The

petition challenged this Court's practice of ex parte solicitation and receipt of prison-generated psychological reports and similar evaluations of death-sentenced inmates who had appeals pending in the Court. This Court dismissed the petition for failure to state a claim, Brown v. Wainwright, 392 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1981), and the Supreme Court denied certiorari, 454 U.S. 1000 (1981).

On May 5, 1980, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida (80-545-Civ-T-GC). Action on the petition was stayed pending exhaustion of state remedies. An evidentiary hearing was held on April 23, 1981. On May 14, 1981, the petition was denied. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend judgment on May 22, 1981, and an additional evidentiary hearing was conducted. On June 17, 1981, the motion was denied.

Petitioner appealed the denial of the petition for writ of habeas corpus to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit (81-5750). That Court reversed the portion of the order of the district court denying relief on Petitioner's claim that jurors were excused for cause based solely on their general reservations about the death penalty. Witt v. Wainwright, 714 F.2d 1069 (11th Cir. 1983).

The State of Florida filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court asking for review of the decision of the Court of Appeals. Certiorari was granted, and on January 21, 1985, the Supreme Court of the United States reversed the decision of the United States Court of Appeals.

Wainwright v. Witt, ___ U.S. ___ (1985).

On February 8, 1985, the Governor of the State of Florida signed a Death Warrant directing Petitioner's execution on some day of the week beginning noon, Thursday, February 28, 1985, and ending noon, Thursday, March 7, 1985.

On February 22, 1985, Petitioner filed a petition for post-conviction relief in circuit court in Hillsborough County. He alleged that his trial court was ineffective in failing adequately to investigate and develop evidence concerning his severe mental and emotional problems, which resulted from organic brain damage, and that the jury which convicted and sentenced him was unconstitutionally composed and prone to convict because potential jurors who opposed the death penalty were excluded. The motion and an application for stay were heard on February 25, 1985, and denied by Judge Guy W. Spicola. Spicola denied the motion on the ground that it was a second, successive petition in violation of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. The court denied Petitioner's requests for an evidentiary hearing on the question of whether such a second petition was an abuse of the procedures. (See, Petitioner's Motion for Evidentiary Hearing with attached Memorandum.)

Petitioner takes this appeal from the denial of his petition for post conviction relief.

Petitioner's execution is scheduled for March 6, 1985 at 7:00 a.m. No stay of execution has been ordered.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner was arrested on November 5, 1973. (T604 - 607) The arresting officials took Petitioner to the county jail where he was interrogated by deputies, an FBI agent and an assistant prosecuting attorney. (T128) On November 6, 1973, Petitioner appeared before a county judge for his first appearance. On November 7, 1973, Petitioner was again interrogated. (T172 - 173) Petitioner made several oral and written incriminating statements. (T644, 734, 867) Petitioner, along with his co-defendant, Gary Tillman, was arraigned on November 8, 1973, and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent both Petitioner and Tillman. (R11, 14) Because of a conflict of interest, the Public Defender withdrew as Petitioner's counsel (R18) and a private attorney, Peter Behuniak, was appointed. (R20)

Petitioner's trial counsel filed a suggestion of insanity and motion to appoint expert witnesses to conduct psychiatric examination. (R36) Hearings to determine Petitioner's competency to stand trial were held on January 4 and 15, 1974. (T35, 68) Two psychiatrists examined Petitioner and testified at the hearings. Both Dr. Arturo Gonzalez and Dr. Daniel Sprehe concluded that Petitioner was competent to stand trial and sane at the time of the offense. (T68 - 79) Petitioner was adjudged competent to stand trial. (R74)

Petitioner's trial began on February 18, 1974. (T225)
The jury that was to serve in both the guilt-innocence and penalty
phases of the trial was selected. During voir dire, at least
seven prospective jurors were excluded from the jury because of

their beliefs in opposition to the death penalty. (T266 - 267, 296 - 297, 341, 351 - 353, 356 - 357, 370 - 373, 408 - 409)

The evidence introduced against Petitioner at trial consisted of his confessions and physical evidence obtained from his trailer and car. This evidence tended to show that Petitioner and Gary Tillman were in a wooded area hunting on the morning of October 28, 1973, (T644) Tillman saw the victim, Jonathan Kushner, riding his bicycle along a path through the area. (T647) Tillman hit the boy on the head with a star bit. (T648) tioner, upon seeing what had occurred, became frightened and told Tillman to gag Kushner so he would not draw attention. (T648) Tillman placed the victim in the trunk of Petitioner's car, and they drove away. (T648) They arrived at a grove about fifteen minutes later. Petitioner opened the trunk and discovered that Kushner was dead. (T649) The medical examiner testified that the cause of death was suffocation caused by the gag. (T501) Unconsciousness would have occurred within three minutes and death within five. (T510)Additional evidence was admitted, over objection, of acts of violence and sexual perversion committed after the victim's death. (T555, 493, 502, 507)

During the penalty phase of the trial, the State introduced the testimony of Dr. Gonzalez and Dr. Sprehe, the two psychiatrists who had examined Petitioner to determine his competency to stand trial and his sanity at the time of the offense.

Dr. Gonzalez testified that he examined Petitioner on December 26, 1973, in this office for 2½ hours and also administered some tests which required another 2½ hours. (T881, 886) He

concluded that Petitioner was not suffering from any psychosis then or at the time of the crime. (T887) He also concluded that Petitioner did not suffer any neurosis. (T887) Gonzalez further testified that Petitioner was sane and in control of his mental faculties. (T889) Petitioner could appreciate the criminality of his conduct. (T901) Gonzalez did not detect the presence of any organic brain disease or damage. (T892) Gonzalez did conclude that Petitioner suffered from a severe anti-social personality disorder (T897, 899 - 901) and that he had violent propensity. (T902) On cross-examination, Gonzalez testified that Petitioner suffered a mental or emotional disturbance in the form of a severe Furthermore, Petitioner's personality disorder. (T903 - 904) disorder made him an impulsive person; one who would not think through the consequences of his actions. (T906 - 907) Petitioner was capable of being dominated by another (T905 - 906) and could come under duress. (T905) Gonzalez also examined Petitioner's co-defendant, Gary Tillman and concluded that Tillman was a paranoid schizophrenic and insane. (T914)He stated Petitioner and Tillman had a symbiotic relationship; each depended on the other to certain degrees at certain times. (T915) Finally, Gonzalez said that at the precise moment of the crime, Tillman was the more dominant, and that Petitioner was dragged into an action that he perhaps would not have done at that time. (T916 - 922) If Petitioner had been alone, the crime, in Gonzalez' opinion, probably would not have occurred. (T924)

Dr. Sprehe also testified during the penalty phase of the trial. (T925) He examined Petitioner for 3½ hours on January

3, 1974. (T927) Sprehe concluded that Petitioner did know right from wrong at the time of the crime. (T929 - 930) However, Petitioner suffered from a long-standing, severe personality disorder. (T931) Sprehe found no indications of organic brain disease or damage after testing Petitioner with the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory. (T932) Furthermore, Sprehe concluded that Petitioner was in control of his mental faculties at the time of the crime. (T935 - 937) Sprehe was of the opinion that Petitioner had the propensity for violence and was not treatable. (T937) Sprehe also recognized that Petitioner and Tillman had a symbiotic relationship. (T944)

Petitioner presented the testimony of his father, John H. Witt, during the penalty phase of the trial. (T953)He testified that Petitioner first showed signs of mental emotional disturbance when he was six or seven years old. (T953 -Petitioner was placed under a psychiatrist's care. (T953 -954) He was nervous, disturbed and confused. (T954) Later, when Petitioner was about eighteen or nineteen years old, he was in an automobile accident and received a head injury. (T955) After the accident, Petitioner was harder to control. (T955) Approximately five years before Petitioner's trial, he and his father had been in the refrigerator repair business together. (T955 - 956) times, when a somewhat pressured situation would occur in the business, Petitioner would run away. (T956) This occurred three different times as the result of normal and expected situations that would not produce such a reaction in a normal person. (T956) Finally, Petitioner's father testified to one occasion where

Petitioner turned over the dining table, throwing plates and food all over the kitchen and dining room. (T957 - 958) He said Petitioner left the house, and when he returned, he acted as if he did not remember what he had done. (T958)

Gordon Parker, Petitioner's neighbor, also testified. (T959) He indicated that he had become acquainted with Petitioner as a neighbor. (T961) Parker related several instances of unusual behavior indicating Petitioner was suffering from a mental or emotional disturbance. (T961) Parker noticed times when Petitioner appeared not to recognize Parker's existence when Parker spoke to him and other times when Petitioner became distraught or disturbed over minor occurrences. (T963 - 965) Parker also noted a substantial difference in Petitioner's behavior after Gary in with Petitioner his family. (T966)Tillman moved and Petitioner became more withdrawn and preoccupied. (T966) Also. Petitioner appeared to be afraid of Tillman. (T967 - 968)

In his written findings in support of the death sentence, the judge found the following aggravating circumstances:

(A) That the Defendant, Johnny Paul Witt, murdered Jonathan Mark Kushner from a premeditated design and while engaged in the commission of a felony, to-wit: kidnapping,

(B) That the Defendant, Johnny Paul Witt, has the propensity to commit the crime for which he was convicted, to-wit: Murder in the First Degree and thus his continued existence [sic] presents a great risk of death to many persons.

(C) The murder, kidnapping of Jonathan Mark Kushner by the Defendant, Johnny Paul Witt, was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.

(D) That the Defendant knowingly through his voluntary and intentional acts leading up to and during the course of the commission of the offense for which he was convicted created a great risk of serious bodily harm and death to many persons.

(R153) The court found that the statutory mitigating factors were "primarily negated" with the exception of the age of the Petitioner. (R154) The court placed great emphasis on the psychiatric testimony of the State's expert witnesses:

Therefore, it is the Opinion Determination of the Court, and the Court so finds, that the aggravating circumstances far outweigh the mitigating circumstances in this cause, and the testimony of the psychiatrists indicate [sic] that the Defendant, Johnny Paul Witt, is a menace to society as his past actions have indicated beyond doubt. addition, the psychiatrists could give no promise of rehabilitation for the Defendant. Thus the Court finds the Jury's recommendation of the death penalty to be appropriate in the case of the Defendant, Johnny Paul Witt and it is so Ordered.

(R154 - 155)

On February 20, 1985, Petitioner was examined by a psychologist, Dr. Harry Krop, who conducted a clinical neuropsychological evaluation. His test included the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised; The Bender-Gestalt; Wechsler Memory Scale; Rey Auditory Verbal Learning; Facial Recognition Test; Aphasia Screening and selected tests from the Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery. Contrary to Drs. Gonzalez and Sprehe, Dr. Krop found Petitioner to be suffering from Organic Brain Syndrome. This organic brain impairment manifested as both short and long term memory deficits, perceptual motor deficits, and constructional aphasia. Krop also found Petitioner to be suffering from a severe personality disorder and he exhibited some symptoms of

Petitioner's organic brain damage renders him schizophrenia. unable to exercise good judgment when highly stressed; he lacks the cognitive ability to do so. Furthermore, Petitioner has inadequate coping skills, and when frustrated, he becomes confused and disorganized. Krop found it to be significant that Petitioner suffered from extreme stress for a two year period immediately prior to the homicide. Petitioner's step-son had been maimed in an automobile accident and was left brain damaged. His wife suffered a miscarriage which had a profound emotional effect on And, as a result, Petitioner was burdened with astronomical medical bills. This prolonged stress coupled with Petitioner's history of emotional instability, organic brain damage, and inadequate coping skills would substantially impair his capacity to act responsibly and to understand the consequences of his acts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The decision of the trial court to deny Petitioner's post-conviction relief on the ground that the claims were raised in a successive petition in violation of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 was incorrect. Petitioner raised two meritorious new grounds for relief which were unavailable to Petitioner at the time he filed his original petition. An ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim was not known to Petitioner at the time of the prior petition and was not investigated or raised by his post-conviction counsel because of a Public Defender office policy prohibiting the raising of ineffective assistance issues. claim that jury selection techniques violated the Sixth Amendment and resulted in a jury that was conviction-prone and unrepresentative of a cross-section of the community was only recently made available by a fundamental change in the law announced in Grisby v. Mabry, No. 83-2113 (8th Cir. Jan. 30, 1085). Petitioner did not abuse the post-conviction rule procedures in filing his successive petition on these claims for relief. At the very least, the trial court should have afforded him an evidentiary hearing on the question of abuse of the petition.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WITHOUT ADDRESSING THE MERITS OF THE CLAIMS PRESENTED, AND WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON ANY MATTER, ON THE GROUND THAT THE PETITION WAS A SUCCESSIVE ONE IN VIOLATION OF FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.850.

Contrary to the trial court's ruling, Petitioner presented meritorious new claims for post-conviction relief which should have been considered on the merits, even though raised in a second petition. In this argument, Petitioner will first discuss the merits of the two new grounds for relief raised in his petition for post-conviction relief. Second Petitioner will discuss the justifiable reasons why the claims were not previously raised, and why, at the very least, Petitioner was entitled to an evidentiary hearing to more fully explicate this justification.

Α.

Petitioner Witt Was Deprived of Effective Assistance Of Counsel During The Penalty Phase Of His Trial Due To His Counsel's Failure To Fully Investigate And Adequately Present The Scope And Intensity Of Petitioner's Mental Impairments.

Petitioner Witt was deprived of effective assistance of counsel in the penalty phase of his trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Counsel failed to adequately investigate, prepare and present evidence of Petitioner's mental and emotional impairment which was

the primary mitigating circumstance in his case. These deficiencies in Counsel's preparation and presentation materially affected the penalty phase of Petitioner's trial. The judge and jury were deprived of critical information regarding Petitioner's mental condition. With only the State's psychiatrists testifying, the judge and jury were left with a skewed impression of Petitioner's true mental state.

The omissions of Counsel included the failure to have Petitioner psychologically examined and tested for organic brain damage or disease. Counsel was aware that Petitioner had been involved in a serious automobile accident and sustained a head injury. Petitioner's father, John Witt, testified to this fact. (T955) However, Counsel did not seek to have Petitioner examined for permanent injuries. Instead, even knowing that impairment was the key mitigation element, Counsel relied on the psychiatrist's office evaluations which indicated no organic impairment. Counsel should not have relied solely upon such cursory examinations. Drs. Gonzalez and Sprehe were appointed by the Court solely to determine competency at the time of the crime and sanity at the time of the offense. As a result, their evaluations were not aimed at disclosing the mental incapacities which constitute mitigating circumstances. Their evaluations identified symptoms but not causes.

Had Counsel obtained adequate psychological evaluations for Petitioner, information such as that found by Dr. Harry Krop would have been available. Dr. Krop conducted a clinical neuropsychological evaluation. His test included the Wechsler

Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised; the Bender-Gestalt; Wechsler Memory Scale; Rey Auditory Verbal Learning; Facial Recognition Test; Aphasia Screening and selected tests from the Reitan Neuropsychological Test Battery. Contrary to Drs. Gonzalez and Sprehe, Dr. Krop found Petitioner to be suffering from Organic Brain Syndrome. This organic brain impairment manifested as both short and long term memory deficits, perceptual motor deficits, and constructional aphasia. Krop also found Petitioner to be suffering from a severe personality disorder, and he exhibited some symptoms of schizophrenia. Petitioner's organic brain damage renders him unable to exercise good judgment when highly stressed; he lacks the cognitive ability to do so. Furthermore, Petitioner has inadequate coping skills, and when frustrated, he becomes confused and disorganized. Krop found it to be significant that Petitioner suffered from extreme stress for a two year period immediately prior to the homicide. Petitioner's step-son had been maimed in an automobile accident and was left brain damaged. wife suffered a miscarriage which had a profound emotional effect burdened with result, Petitioner was on him. And, as astronomical medical bills. This prolonged stress coupled with Petitioner's history of emotional instability, organic brain damage, and inadequate coping skills would substantially impair his capacity to act responsibly and to understand the consequences of his acts.

Presentation of such psychological information about Petitioner at the penalty phase of his trial would have established the mitigating circumstances provided for in Section 921.141(6)(b) and (f), Florida Statutes. Furthermore, its presentation would have negated the damaging, and improper, psychological evidence presented by the State, <u>i.e.</u> that Petitioner premeditated the homicide and had a propensity to violence. (T902, 937)

The United States Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, ____ U.S. ___, 80 L.Ed. 674 (1984), established the standard to be employed in evaluating effective assistance of counsel. That standard has two elements: (1) a showing that counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Ibid., at 693. This same standard applies to the guilt-innocence phase of the trial as well as the penalty phase of the trial. Ibid. Counsel's omissions and deficiencies in performance meet this test.

First, counsel's failure to adequately investigate, prepare and present evidence of Petitioner's psychological condition was a serious deficiency. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals recently made clear that if evidence such as counsel in this case failed to investigate and present had been offered but excluded in a state trial court, the exclusion would violate due process. Boykins v. Wainwright, 737 F.2d 1539, 1543-1545 (11th Cir. 1984). Where a defendant's sole defense at trial is a psychiatric defense, "'[i]n resolving the complex issue of criminal responsibility it is of critical importance that the defendant's entire relevant symptomatology by brought before the jury and explained.'" Id., at 1545 (emphasis in original)(citing Gordon v. United States, 438 F.2d 858, 883 (5th Cir.), cert.

denied, 404 U.S. 828 (1971)). Where evidence of the "entire relevant symptomatology" is excluded, fundamental fairness is denied because such evidence "clearly meets the constitutional standard of materiality in the sense of a 'crucial, critical, highly significant factor.'" 737 F.2d at 1545 (citing Osborne v. Wainwright, 720 F.2d 1237, 1238 (11th Cir. 1983)). Given that the exclusion of such evidence would deny a defendant a fair trial, counsel who "decides" not to investigate such evidence even though he is presenting a psychological defense, cannot be deemed effec-If such evidence cannot persuade a jury of a psychiatric defense, no evidence can, for a psychiatric defense turns, most importantly, on presentation "in meaningful terms [of] all relevant psychological and other scientific considerations so that the jury may decide whether a mental disease or defect existed at any critical time, and, if so, whether it was sufficient to negate criminal responsibility." Gordon v. United States, 438 F.2d at 883.

Having shown that Counsel's performance was deficient, Petitioner must also show "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Strickland v. Washington, 80 L.Ed.2d at 693. Specifically, Petitioner must show "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Ibid., at 698. In this context, a "reasonable probability" means "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Ibid. As the Court framed the inquiry in Washington,

[w]hen a defendant challenges a death sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer -- including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence -- would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.

Ibid., at 698.

Prejudice due to the failure to investigate must of necessity focus upon the omission of evidence from the judicial proceeding at issue. If no investigation is undertaken, evidence that would have been discovered cannot be presented at trial. Accordingly prejudice in Petitioner's case must be gauged by whether, had the uninvestigated evidence instead been investigated and presented at trial, there is a reasonable probability that the sentencer would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.

Had the trial jury and judge had complete knowledge of Petitioner's mental condition, there is a reasonable probability that Petitioner would not have been sentenced to death. Had Counsel adequately investigated, prepared and presented the full scope of Petitioner's mental illness, such evidence would have negated the improper aggravating circumstances the trial judge fashioned from the State's psychiatric testimony: (1)Petitioner premeditated the murder; (2) that Petitioner had a propensity for violence; (3) that Petitioner shows no promise of rehabilitation. (R154 - 155) The quality of the psychological evidence developed by Dr. Krop is such that the judge would have been required to find the statutory mental mitigating factors. §921.141(6)(b) and (f). Furthermore, based upon this

evidence, this Court would not have sustained the death sentence as proportionate. Petitioner's circumstances would have been comparable to that of his co-defendant, Gary Tillman, who was allowed to plead guilty to second degree murder primarily because of his mental impairment. With Petitioner's circumstances substantially the same as his co-defendant's, his death sentence would not have been sustained in this Court. See, e.g., Slater v. State, 316 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1975).

The standards governing the proof of the statutory mental mitigating circumstances are well developed, having been applied by this Court in more than fifty cases. Pursuant to these standards, the judge, had he been aware of Petitioner's complete mental condition, would have been compelled to find and give substantial weight to the statutory mitigating factors.

Under Florida law, unless the evidence rises to a certain level, "[s]o long as all the evidence is considered, the trial judge's determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion." Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1984). The finding that there is no mental mitigating circumstance will amount to an abuse of discretion the following conditions are met: When there is "overwhelming evidence," Quince v. State, 414 So.2d 185, 187 n.3 (Fla. 1982), that the defendant suffers from a mental illness. See, also Mines v. State, 390 So.2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1980). When the mental condition was a "controlling influence" Huckaby, 343 So.2d 29, 33 (Fla. 1977), on the defendant at the time of the Ibid.; Mines v. State, 390 So.2d at 337; Miller v. State, crime.

373 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1979). (3) When the mental illness is a form of psychosis or its equivalent. There is a settled opinion in the medical community concerning the substantial impairment of criminal capacity by such illnesses. The presence of psychosis or brain damage compels the finding of mitigating circumstances, despite contrary finding by the trial judge. Huckaby v. State, 343 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1977) (schizophrenia; brain damage causing violent behavior); Mines v. State, 390 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1980) (paranoid schizophrenia); Mann v. State, 420 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1982) (psychotic depression; paranoid feelings of rage).

Accordingly, when the evidence tendered in support of mental mitigating circumstances satisfies these three conditions, mental mitigation <u>must</u> be found <u>and</u> given substantial weight, <u>cf.</u> <u>Quince v. State</u>, 414 So.2d at 186-187 ("great weight" need not be given to mental mitigation unless the trial judge was compelled to find it), in the balancing process of sentence determination. A trial judge's finding that there is no mental mitigating circumstances under such conditions will be set aside as a "palpable abuse of discretion." <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d at 1076. Evidence of Petitioner's mental condition, which we now know, falls into that category

Had this evidence been presented, therefore, there would have been unequivocal, weighty evidence that Petitioner fit into that special category of persons whom the Florida Legislature has determined should not be sentenced to death: those whose mental illness rather than their bad character, has caused them to commit violent acts. Indeed, because

a large number of the statutory mitigating factors reflect a legislative determination to mitigate the death penalty in favor of a life sentence for those persons whose responsibility for their violent actions has been substantially diminished as a result of a mental illness, uncontrolled emotional state of mind, or drug abuse,

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