IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 4 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JOHNNY PAUL WITT,

Appellant,

v.

case no. (, (, (,),)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

The lower court correctly denied the motion for post-conviction relief and correctly decided that based on the allegations in the pleadings an evidentiary hearing was unnecessary on the reasons for the successive motion.

Neither post-conviction relief nor an evidentiary hearing were required on the <u>Grigsby</u> jury selection issue. <u>Grigsby</u> is in consistent with the Supreme Court decision in <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>,

____U.S.___ (Case No. 83-1427, January 21, 1985). <u>Grigsby</u>, relied in part on statistics available in earlier challenges which have been rejected in other federal courts. <u>Keeton v. Garrison</u>, 742

F.2d 129 (4th Cir. 1984); <u>Spinkellink v. Wainwright</u>, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir. 1978) cert. denied 440 U.S. 976 (1979); <u>Smith v.</u>

Balkcom, 660 F.2d 573 (5th Cir. Unit B 1980) cert. denied 459

U.S. 882 (1982); McCleskey v. Kemp, ___F.2d___ (11th Cir. Case

No. 84-8176, January 29, 1985). This court has recently rejected the Grigsby concept. Caruthers v. State, ___So.2d___ 10 F.L.W.

114.

Finally <u>Grigsby</u> is not a change in law emanating from the United States Supreme Court or this Court. <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980); <u>State v. Washington</u>, 453 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1984).

As to the ineffective counsel claim it is manifest that the Witt defense team knew in 1979 and 1980 that a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was a viable one because, as Witt's counsel now urge, it was not raised earlier because of the Public Defender's office policy, prohibiting such issues (R 210). That is unacceptable for as the Fifth Circuit held en banc in Jones v. Estelle, 722 F.2d 159, 167 (5th Cir. 1983):

"When a petitioner was represented by competent counsel in a fully prosecuted writ he cannot by testimony of personal ignorance justify the omission of claims when awareness of those claim's is chargeable to his competent counsel."

See also <u>Murch v. Mottram</u>, 409 U.S. 41, 34 L.Ed.2d 194 (1972) rejecting an acceptance of the petitioner's declaration of his subjective intent that he did not intend to waive a claim; see also <u>Schneckloth v. Bustamonte</u>, 412 U.S. 218, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1972) (one need not understand the consequences of a consent to search)

As the federal courts do not hesitate to enforce the abuse of the writ doctrine - see Woodard v. Hutchins, ___U.S.___, 78

L.Ed.2d 541 (1984); Antone v. Dugger, 79 L.Ed.2d 147 (1984); In re Shriner, 735 F.2d 1236 (11th Cir. 1984) application for stay denied ___U.S.___, 35 Cr.L. 4083; Goode v. Wainwright, 731 F.2d 1482 (11th Cir. 1984) so also this court need not tolerate it.

See The Florida Bar, Re: Amendments to Rules of Criminal Procedure (Rule 3.850) 10 F.L.W. 22; Smith v. State, 453 So.2d 388 (Fla. 1984).

Furthermore, an examination of Witt's ineffective counsel allegations reveals that Will would not be entitled to relief under the Washington v. Strickland standard.

After summarizing the evidence adduced at trial, Witt alleges that on February 20, 1985, he was examined by a psychologist, Harry Krop. According to Witt, Krop found him to be suffering from Organic Brain Syndrome, to be suffering from a severe personality disorder, he found Witt exhibited some symptoms of schizophrenia, had a history of emotional instability and does not cope well to stress.

Thus, argues Witt, these factors would substantially impair his capacity to act responsibly and to understand the consequences of his acts.

But none of this is new. Witt's military medical records which Witt's trial counsel Behuniak introduced during the penalty phase describes Petitioner's history of emotional instability. For example, it is reported:

Emotional instability reaction, chronic, severe; manifested by history of unstable family background and home environment (alcoholic father), difficulties in adapting to figures of authority and school, chronic headaches and feelings of tension and anxiety, and recent impulsive antisocial behavior; pre-disposition, lifelong history of emotional instability under minimal stress; precipitating stress, routine stress of military duty at the present time. Not PR. LD: No, EPTE.

Trial attorney Behuniak testified in his disposition that he would have used Dr. Gonzalez to testify at the penalty phase even if the State had not done so. (pp. 35 - 36). He sought to establish the mitigating evidence of mental or emotional disturbance through the testimony of Dr. Sprehe and Dr. Gonzalez. (p 13).

The trial record reflects that Behuniak did elicit from Dr. Gonzalez that Witt did have a "personality disorder" (R. 1143) and that "he has emotional and mental disturbances", (R. 1143) and that "when he is frustrated in whatever way, he would be under duress and you call it". (R. 1144). Witt received a general discharge from the military because he was unfit for military duty because of a mental or emotional disturbance. (R. 1146).

From. Dr. Sprehe, Behuniak elicited that Witt "does have a personality disorder and I suppose in the broadest sense that can be considered an emotional disturbance". (R. 1182). Witt's personality disorder was "severe". (R. 1184).

All that Witt has done is come up with a more recent psychologist to suggest a disagreement with the doctors who testified at trial. There is nothing to suggest that Behuniak was deficient in failing to seek an alternative to the doctors who had examined Witt throughout the court proceedings and were more familiar with him. There will, in any case, always somewhere be some alleged expert willing to proffer a contrary opinion to that propounded by another expert.

As stated in Booker v. State, 413 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1982):

No new information was discovered - a doctor has simply been found who draws different conclusions.

If "evidence" such as that offered here is found to warrant a new proceeding, there will be no end to the appeal process. The finality of the judicial process would be nil if a new proceeding was required everytime a party found an expert who reached a conclusion, with regard to information available at the time of trial, that differed from the opinions and conclusions presented at the trial. There must be a point at which the proceeding is concluded and the matter is settled.

(Text at 757)

Counsel for Appellant is not required to pursue every path until it bears fruit or until all conceivable hope withers.

Lovett v. State of Florida, 627 F.2d 706, at 708 (5th Cir. 1980. See also Elledge v. State, 432 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1983).

Consequently, Witt has failed in this petition even to meet the requirements of Strickland v. Washington, ___U.S.___, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) that:

- (1) counsel's performance was deficient i.e. that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment, and
- (2) that such errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, one whose result is reliable.

80 L.Ed.2d at 693.

This Court can ascertain from a review of the record that there is not a reasonable probability that, absent the asserted error the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death. 80 L.Ed.2d at 698.

The trial court's summary denial of relief should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and citations of authority, the Appellee submits that the judgment and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.